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Mission Statement

We are committed to creating superior 
value for stakeholders through:

Providing high quality products and services.

Collaborating with strategic partners within 
chosen markets.

Recognising our social responsibility.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED:  31 August 2011

Annual report published  20 December  2011 
Seventy-second Annual General Meeting  25 January 2012

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING:  31 August 2012

Interim Report and interim dividend declared  03 May 2012 
Interim dividend paid  31 May 2012
Profit announcement for the year and final dividend declared  24 October 2012 
Final dividend paid  16 November 2012
Annual report published  29 November 2012
Seventy-third Annual General Meeting  30 January 2013 

NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the Seventy-second Annual General Meeting of Astra Industries Limited will be 
held in the Auditorium at Astra Park, Corner Ridgeway North / Northend Roads, Highlands, Harare, on 25 
January 2012 at 1200 hours for the following purposes:

Ordinary resolutions:  

1. To receive, consider and adopt the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2011, and the report 
of the directors and auditors.

2. To elect directors.
 In accordance with the Articles of Association Mrs. AR Chinamo, Mr. TM Johnson and Prof. R Murapa 

retire from the board by rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

3. To fix the remuneration of the non-executive directors for the year ended 31 August 2011.

4. To approve the remuneration of the auditors for the year ended 31 August 2011.

5. To appoint auditors for the ensuing year.

A member entitled to vote at these meetings is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote 
and speak in his stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the company.

Proxy forms must be lodged at the registered office of the company not less than forty-eight hours before 
the time of holding the meeting.

By order of the Board

Astra Holdings Limited Secretaries.
20 December 2011

GROUP STRUCTURE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ASTRA INDUSTRIES BOARD

Directors

DR. C M B Utete  Chairman
H Nkala  Deputy Chairman
M Mazimbe*  Managing Director
A R Chinamo  Director
E J Davies*  Executive Director
T M Johnson  Director
Prof. R Murapa  Director
H M Nhende*  Financial Director
V W Zireva  Director

Audit and Finance Committee

V W Zireva  Chairman
A R Chinamo  Member
Prof. R Murapa  Member
   
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

DR. C M B Utete  Chairman
T M Johnson  Member
M Mazimbe*  Member
H Nkala  Member

*Executive Directors

MANAGEMENT

Astra Industries Limited

M Mazimbe  Group Managing Director
H M Nhende  Group Financial Director
E M Mazibuko  Group Accountant
E K Dangwa  Group Human Resources Manager
R Nyamutora  Group Risk and Control Manager
D Mkhize  Group Internal Audit Manager
A Matare  Group Information Technology Manager

Astra Chemical (Private) Limited

E J Davies  Managing Director
R Mugara  Finance Manager
E Chivore  Production Manager
L Nyanzara  Human Resources Manager
J Gotora  National Sales Manager

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CTD)

Astra Paints

J Chinyuku                                     General Manager
E T Gumbo                                     Finance Manager
F Moyo                                           Branch Manager – Bulawayo

N.C.P. Distillers Zimbabwe (Private) Limited

B Chindondondo  Plant Manager
R Kupfuwa  Accountant

Celmid (Private) Limited – t/a Chemical Enterprises

R Munyaka  Operations Manager
B Munjanja Accountant

HEAD OFFICE AND REGISTERED OFFICE TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Astra Park First Transfer Secretaries (Private) Limited
Cnr Ridgeway North and North End Roads
P O Box HG 300 ATTORNEYS
Highlands Costa & Madzonga Legal Practitioners
Harare 
Web address: www.astra.co.zw PRINCIPAL BANKERS
E-mail address: comms@astra.co.zw Barclays Bank of Zimbabwe Limited

 AUDITORS 
 Deloitte & Touche 

CHEGUTU DEPOT

NCPDZ LAB - GAS CHROMATAGRAPH
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THE NCP DISTILLERS 
PLANT IN CHIREDZI

THE VINEGAR QUALITY CONTROL LAB 
AT ASTRA CHEMICAL
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

INTRODUCTION

Following the decision to close Astra Steel & Engineering Supplies during the year under review, Astra Industries 
Group has become marginally smaller than in previous years.

For a number of years, Astra Steel & Engineering Supplies has failed to make any significant contribution to the rest 
of the Group.  Overall Group performance in the financial year 2010/2011 was adversely affected by Astra Steel & En-
gineering Supplies which led to ultimate closure of the business with some employees being offered retrenchment 
packages whilst the rest were redeployed to other Group companies and divisions.

The Board and management believe that the Group is now focused on core activities being paint and chemicals and it 
is hoped that this will lead to improved profitability. 

The performance from continuing operations were below expectations for the following reasons:

•Intense competition which drove margins down.

•Demand remained depressed due to low disposable incomes in the country.

•Liquidity challenges which resulted in long outstanding debtors and consequently unusually high provision for  
   doubtful debts and bad debts write-offs.

•Lack of large construction projects as investors remained skeptical to the country’s indigenisation       
   policy.

Our working capital management strategy remained tight, thereby limiting the Group’s gearing at low and manage-
able levels.  Cost control was given high priority but other factors beyond our control such as NEC wage increases 
made it difficult to achieve our cost targets.

ASTRA PAINTS

Astra Paints division had a decent year.  However, it failed to meet targets that had been set at the beginning of the 
year due to some factors mentioned above.  Competition was strong during the year from both local and imported 
paint products.

The division achieved a 19% sales growth, while sales volumes increased by 16%.  Gross margins declined three percent-
age points due to competitive pressures which forced the division to reduce prices.  Operating expenses increased by 
17,7% resulting in the operating profit margin declining from 13,5% last year to 11,2% this year.  However, profit after tax 
increased by 54% over last year primarily due to increased sales volumes and reduced finance costs.

ASTRA CHEMICAL

Astra Chemicals division comprising Astra Chemical (Pvt) Ltd, Celmid (Pvt) Ltd trading as Chemical Enterprises and 
N.C.P. Distillers Zimbabwe (Pvt) Ltd had an average year, managing to just break even.

For the first nine months of the year demand was sluggish for this division, only for the last three months to show 
considerable volumes recovery.  Revenue grew by 22,4% from $10,2 million last year to $12,4 million this year.  Margins 
were depressed as well during the first three quarters of the year, resulting in the gross margins declining by three 
percentage points from 30% to 26,9%.  Sales volumes in the chemicals division grew by 24% compared to prior year.

Operating profit for the division was marginal at 0,5% (last year 4,4%), mainly due to low margins and high operating 
costs.  Astra Chemical (Pvt) Ltd reported a loss of US$31,000, while the other units in the chemicals division reported 
profits resulting in the division achieving a profit after tax of US$59,000.

N.C.P. Distillers lost key skills to a new player in the ethanol sector during the second half of this financial year.  The 
new player was offering attractive remuneration packages.

ASTRA STEEL

As reported above, this unit was shut down and trading activities ceased in April 2011, while retrenchments of affected 
employees were concluded in August 2011.  Astra Steel had a loss before taxation of US$746,000.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Board focused its attention on business survival in a relatively difficult operating environment.  Consequently a 
decision was made to shut down Astra Steel & Engineering Supplies Division, which had been a loss making operation for a number of years.  The 
Group felt it prudent to stop any further negative impact on the rest of the Group by this division.  Since the introduction of the multi-currency 
trading system, Astra Steel had reported trading losses every month to the detriment of the whole Group.  It has to be noted that the steel divi-
sion, even during prior periods when it reported trading profits, was never a significant contributor to the Group’s profitability.

The challenges which the economy faced in prior periods persisted during the year under review, such as low levels of demand due to low 
disposable incomes, absence of long-term loans to capitalise businesses, high overhead costs and outdated machinery thereby negatively im-
pacting operational efficiencies.

OPERATIONS

With the decision which was made to close the steel business,  the Group is now mainly focused in the chemicals and paints businesses.  These 
continuing operations had a satisfactory outturn, mainly driven by the paints business.  Chemicals performance was well below expectations 
but have shown signs of recovery in the last three months of the year.  Competition across all product lines remained strong, which forced our 
operations to reduce margins in order to retain respective market shares.  The Group managed to achieve an operating profit from continuing 
operations of US$1,2 million translating to an operating margin of 5,4%.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board introduced a formal Enterprise Risk Management policy in July 2011 to buttress existing risk and control measures and procedures.  
The Group has a risk & control department and an adequately staffed internal audit team to help in identifying, managing and enforcing best 
risk management practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance practices are observed at both Board and management levels.  The Board comprises six non-executive and three 
executive directors.  The Board has two standing committees, the Audit & Finance and Human Resources & Remuneration committees chaired 
by non-executive directors.  Board meetings are held at least once every quarter.  Directors’ meetings attendance during the year were as fol-
lows:

Name of director  Number of meetings attended
 Main Board Audit and Finance Committee
Dr. C.M.B. Utete 3 / 4 N/A
Mr. H. Nkala 3/ 4 N/A
Mr M. Mazimbe 4 / 4 N/A
Mrs A.R. Chinamo 4 / 4 3 / 3
Mr. E.J. Davies 4 / 4 N/A
Mr. T.M. Johnson 2 / 4 N/A
Mr. S. Fitzpatrick 1 / 1 N/A
Prof. R. Murapa 3 / 4 2 / 3
Mr. H. M. Nhende 4 /4 N/A
Mr. V.W. Zireva 3 / 4 3 / 3

DIRECTORATE CHANGES

During the year, Mr Shane Fitzpatrick resigned from the Board.  On behalf of the Board, management and staff, I would like to express my appre-
ciation for the wisdom and support received from Shane during the time he served on this Board.  The rest of Board membership has remained 
intact and I would like to thank them for their continued support and invaluable contribution to the Group.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDER’S DISPOSAL OF SHARES IN THE COMPANY

At the time of writing this report, the major shareholder, Finance Trust of Zimbabwe (Private) Limited was in the process of disposing its entire 
stake in the Company representing 63% of total issued shares of the Company.

OUTLOOK

Future prospects are encouraging for the Group’s continuing operations, which are expected to improve in line with growth of the economy.  
The Group has planned capital expenditure to upgrade the paint production facilities, which will lead to increased production capacity and ef-
ficiencies.

The new, leaner but focused Group is poised to exploit any future growth opportunities.

DR. C.M.B. UTETE
CHAIRMAN
20 December 2011
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (CTD)

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group continues to experience skills gaps in some key functions, which it is slowly filling. Except for losses of key 
skills at N.C.P. Distillers, the Group has largely retained its key skills intact in all its continuing operations.  Training 
programmes run by the Group continue to be the main source of human skills to the Group’s technical, marketing and 
accounting departments.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Post year-end the Group recruited a Group IT Manager, who is responsible for improving the IT infrastructure and to 
deploy uniform systems across Group companies away from currently fragmented systems.

SOCIAL REPONSIBILITY

The Group is conscious of its social responsibilities, which include ensuring compliance with environmental regula-
tions pertaining to its business operations.  During the year the Group was involved in a few community focused 
sponsorship programmes such as the Astra Paints Junior Tennis Tournament.

CONCLUSION

While the year under review may have been below expectations in terms of  performance, management is encour-
aged by overall performance in view of the numerous challenges faced during the year.  A lot of time and energy 
during the year was focused towards exiting from the steel business.  The Group is now a lot leaner with continuing 
operations enjoying considerable synergies, which we believe will produce improved results going forward. 

M. MAZIMBE
MANAGING DIRECTOR
20 December 2011

STATEMENT OF VALUE ADDED

  2011 % 2010 %
  US$   US$
NET INCOME FROM ALL SOURCES 24 325 927 100% 20 425 536 100%
Deduct:   Raw & packing materials ( 16 105 354) -66% ( 13 069 817) -64%
                   Outside services provided ( 4 108 724) -17% ( 2 217 159) -11%
    
Value added by the Group 4 111 849 17% 5 138 560 25%
    
DISTRIBUTION OF VALUE ADDED    
TO STAKEHOLDERS    
EMPLOYEES - Salaries & wages 2 583 006 63% 2 615 037 51%
GOVERNMENT - Taxation & excise duty 283 667 7% 526 306 10%
LENDERS  - Interest 189 842 5% 328 555 6%
SHAREHOLDERS - Dividends - - - -
  3 056 515 75% 3 469 898 67%
    
RETAINED IN THE BUSINESS    
TO REPLACE ASSETS – Depreciation 634 876 15% 800 237 16%
TO FUND EXPANSION – Retained earnings 420 458 10% 868 425 17%
  1 055 334 25% 1 668 662 33%
    
  4 111 849 100% 5 138 560 100%
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SUMMARY OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 Year ended Year ended
 31 August 2011 31 August 2010
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
 US $ US $
Revenue 22 797 985    18 787 368 
Cost of sales (15 254 394) ( 11 954 992)
  
Gross profit 7 543 591    6 832 376 
Other operating income 226 555     105 498 
Operating expenses (6 532 437) ( 5 420 949)
   
Operating profit 1 237 709    1 516 925 
  
Finance income 82 700     30 166 
Finance costs (123 216) (  270 150)
   
Profit before tax 1 197 193    1 276 941 
Income tax expense (267 124) (  73 503)
   
Profit for the year from continuing operations 930 069    1 203 438 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (509 611) (335 013)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 420 458 868 425
  
Profit for the year from continuing and discontinued 
operations attributable to:  
Owners of the company 391 577     863 535 
Non-controlling interests 28 881     4 890 
 420 458     868 425 
  
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to:  
Owners of the company 901 188 1 198 548
Non-controlling interests 28 881 4 890
 930 069 1 203 438
  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
Continuing operations:  
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 297 010    2 685 958 
Deferred tax effect on revaluation gain (69 633) (588 085)
Total other comprehensive income 227 377  2 097 873

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 647 835 2 966 298    
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SUMMARY OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CTD)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   

As at 31 August Audited Audited Unaudited
 2011 2010 2009
ASSETS US $ US $ US$
   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 6 934 227 10 054 191 8 098 273
Investment property 3 020 000 - -
Total non-current assets 9 954 227 10 054 191 8 098 273

Current assets   
Bank and cash 215 304 298 134 216 587
Other current assets 7 944 874 6 187 961 4 178 183
Total current assets 8 160 178 6 486 095 4 394 770
   
Total assets 18 114 405 16 540 286 12 493 043

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
   
Capital and reserves
Share capital 1 397 291 1 391 791 -
Reserves    9 952 185  9 317 038 7 694 290
Equity attributable to owners of the Company    11 349 476  10 708 829 7 694 290
Non-controlling interests     81 943  53 062 47 342
Total equity    11 431 419  10 761 891 7 741 632

Non-current liabilities   
Deferred tax liabilities
 2 132 014 2 315 272 2 422 780
Current liabilities   
Borrowings    1 239 619  738 917 290 009
Other current liabilities    3 311 353  2 724 206 2 038 622
Total current liabilities    4 550 972  3 463 123 2 328 631

Total liabilities 6 682 986 5 778 395 4 751 411
Total equity and liabilities 18 114 405 16 540 286 12 493 043
  
INVESTMENT  
Capital expenditure     427 581      177 428  94 563
Current assets increase    1 674 083     2 091 325  N/A
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS

 Year ended  Year ended  Year ended
 31 August 2011 31 August 2010 31 August 2009
SHARE PERFORMANCE    

Number of shares in issue (million) 140 139 136

Weighted average number of shares in issue (million) 140 138 136

Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue (million) 142 142 139

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued 
operations:     
-  Diluted (cents per share) 0.28 0.61 -
-  Basic (cents per share) 0.28 0.62 -
 
Earnings per share from continuing operations:     
-  Diluted (cents per share) 0.63 0.84 
-  Basic (cents per share) 0.65 0.87 
Weighted net worth per share (cents per share) 8 8 3
Share price at year end(cents per share) 4.70 2.50 -

Earnings yield based on weighted number of shares (%)   -
-  Continuing and discontinued operations 5.97 24.99 
-  Continuing operations 13.74 34.68 
    

PROFITABILITY AND ASSET MANAGEMENT 
– Continuing operations:    

Operating profit margin (%) 5.43 8.07 -
Profit after tax margin (%) 4.08 6.41 -
Attributable profit margin (%) 3.95 6.38 -
Operating profit to total assets (%)  6.83 9.17 -
Profit before tax to total assets (%) 6.61 7.72 -
Profit after tax to total equity (%) 8.14 11.18 -
Attributable profit to equity holders of the parent (%)  7.94 11.19 -
    

SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY – Continuing operations    

Interest cover (times) 30.55 6.32 -
Interest bearing debt to shareholders’ equity (%) 10.84 6.87 -
Current assets to current liabilities 1.79:1 1.87:1 1.89:1
Acid test ratio  0.83:1 0.96:1 0.87:1
    

PRODUCTIVITY – Continuing operations    

Number of employees 282 340 345
  Permanent 253 298 314
  Contract 29 42 31
    

Turnover per employee (US $) 80 844     55 257  
Operating profit per employee (US $) 4 389     4 462  
Average cost per employee (US $) 9 284 7 691 

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2011. 

Year’s results
The annexed financial statements adequately disclose the results of the Group’s operations during the year.  They 
should be read in conjunction with the Chairman’s statement and Managing Director’s review of operations, both of 
which base their comments on the financial statements.  Earnings attributable to owners of the company for continu-
ing and discontinued operations were US$391 577 (2010: US$863 535).  Loss attributable to discontinued operations 
was US$509 611 (2010: US$335 013).   
    

Property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditure for the year to 31 August 2011 totalled US$427 581.  The capital expenditure for the year to 31 
August 2012 is planned at US$1.5 million, of which none has been contracted.

Share Capital
The authorised share capital of the Company is US$1 550 000 and comprise 155 000 000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 
each. 550 000 (2010: 2 860 000) shares under option were exercised during the year increasing the issued shares by 
550 000 to a closing balance of 139 729 136 shares.  Accordingly, the issued share capital is US$1 397 291.  The number 
of ordinary shares currently under options is 2 570 000 (2010: 3 837 500) 

Reserves
The movement in the reserves of the Group are shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditors
Members will be asked to appoint Deloitte & Touche as auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and approve 
payment of their fees for the past financial year.

The directors of the Group and the Company are responsible for:
• Presenting the shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group and Company’s finan-

cial position and financial performance at the end of each financial year.

• Ensuring that the Group and the Company maintains accounting records, which disclose, with reasonable accu-
racy, the financial position of the Group and the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with relevant statutes.

• Taking steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.

• Selecting appropriate accounting policies which follow International Financial Reporting Standards and for moni-
toring compliance by the Group and the Company.

Approval
These financial statements are expressed in United States dollars.  The Board of Directors assumes responsibility for 
the Group annual financial statements, which were approved by the Board on 20 December 2011 and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Dr. C.M.B. Utete  M. Mazimbe
20 December 2011 20 December 2011

REPORT OF DIRECTORS



18 19

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
TO THE MEMBERS OF ASTRA INDUSTRIES LIMITED

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Astra Industries Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidi-
aries (“the Group”) as set out on pages 19 to 52, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 
August 2011, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Companies Act (Chapter 
24:03) and the relevant statutory instruments (SI 33/99 and SI 62/96). This responsibility includes: designing, imple-
menting and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate account-
ing policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical require-
ments and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of ma-
terial misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluat-
ing the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Astra Industries 
Limited and its subsidiaries as at 31 August 2011, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the current period financial statements have, in all material respects, been properly prepared in compli-
ance with the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03) and Statutory Instruments (SI 33/99 and SI 62/96). 

Deloitte & Touche
Harare, Zimbabwe
20 December 2011

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPEREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2011

  Year ended  Year ended
  31 August  31 August
 Notes  2011  2010 
 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS  US $ US $

Revenue  22 797 985 18 787 368
Cost of sales  ( 15 254 394) ( 11 954 992)
Gross profit  7 543 591 6 832 376
Other operating income  226 555 105 498
Operating expenses  ( 6 532 437) ( 5 420 949)
   
Operating profit 5 1 237 709 1 516 925
   
Finance income 6 82 700 30 166
Finance costs 6 ( 123 216) (  270 150)
   
Profit before tax  1 197 193 1 276 941

Income tax expense 7 (  267 124) (  73 503)
   
Profit for the year from continuing operations  930 069 1 203 438

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 8 (509 611) (335 013)
Profit for the year  420 458 868 425
   
Profit for the year from continuing and discontinued operations 
attributable to:   
Owners of the company      391 577      863 535 
Non-controlling interests 20     28 881      4 890 
      420 458      868 425 
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to:   
Owners of the company      901 188  1 198 548
Non-controlling interests      28 881  4 890
      930 069  1 203 438
   
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Continuing operations   
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  297 010 2 685 958
Deferred tax effect on revaluation gain  (69 633) (588 085)
Total other comprehensive income  227 377 2 097 873
  
Total comprehensive income for the year  647 835 2 966 298
   
Total comprehensive income from continuing and 
discontinued operations 
attributable to:   
Owners of the company  618 954 2 960 578
Non-controlling interests  28 881 5 720
  647 835 2 966 298
Earnings per share (cents)
From continuing and discontinued operations   
-Basic (cents per share) 9 0.28 0.62
-Diluted (cents per share) 9 0.28 0.61
   
From continuing operations   
-Basic (cents per share) 9 0.65 0.87
-Diluted (cents per share) 9 0.63 0.84
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2011

  Audited Audited Unaudited
  2011 2010 2009
 Notes US$ US$ US$
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 10    6 934 227  10 054 191 8 098 273
Investment properties 11    3 020 000  - -
    
     9 954 227 10 054 191  8 098 273
    
Current assets    
Inventories 14 4 383 928 3 156 551 2 360 128
Trade and other receivables 15 3 419 883 3 031 410 1 818 055
Cash and cash equivalents 16 215 304 298 134 216 587
  8 019 115 6 486 095 4 394 770
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 17     141 063  - -
     8 160 178  6 486 095 4 394 770
    
Total assets  18 114 405 16 540 286 12 493 043
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Capital and reserves    
Share capital 18 1 397 291 1 391 791 -
Share premium 18 6 255 100 6 234 245 -
Share option reserve 18 61 855     77 886  109 725
Functional currency change reserve  -    -  7 540 236    
Properties revaluation reserve 19 2 324 420    2 097 043  -
Retained earnings     1 310 810      907 864     44 329
          
Equity attributable to owners of the Company     11 349 476  10 708 829 7 694 290
Non-controlling interests 20     81 943  53 062 47 342
Total equity     11 431 419  10 761 891 7 741 632
    
Non-current liabilities    
Deferred tax liabilities 21 2 132 014 2 315 272 2 422 780
    
Current liabilities    
Short-term borrowings 22    1 239 619  738 917 290 009
Trade and other payables 23    2 497 765  1 854 202 1 355 379
Provisions 23.1     791 039  678 491 582 132
Current tax liabilities      22 549  191 513 101 111
     4 550 972  3 463 123 2 328 631
    
Total liabilities  6 682 986 5 778 395 4 751 411
    
Total equity and liabilities  18 114 405 16 540 286 12 493 043
 

Dr. C.M.B. Utete  M. Mazimbe
20 December 2011 20 December 2011

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2011

 Notes Year ended Year ended
  31 August 2011 31 August 2010
  US $ US $
Cash flows from operating activities   
Operating profit for the year  557 284 997 527
Adjustment for non-cash items 24 475 238 932 203
Increase in working capital 25 (859 739) ( 1 414 596)

Cash generated from operations  172 783 515 134
Finance income  83 791 30 166 
Finance costs   (189 842) ( 328 555)
Income taxes paid  (452 630) (435 904)
  
Net cash used in operating activities  (385 898) (  219 159)
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   220 047 29 226 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (427 581) (  177 428)
Net cash used in investing activities  (207 534) (  148 202)
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of new shares  9 900 -
Proceeds from short-term borrowings  2 837 211  3 720 877   
Repayments of short-term borrowings  (2 336 509) (3 271 969)
 
Cash received from financing activities  510 602 448 908
   
Increase  in cash and cash equivalents  82 830 81 547
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 16 298 134 216 587
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 215 304 298 134
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2011

Accounting policies

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
 
 Astra Industries Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in Zimbabwe in 1939. The address of its registered 

office and principal place of business is Astra Park, Ridgeway North/Northend Road, Highlands, Harare. The 
main business of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is the manufacture and distribution of surface 
coatings and chemicals. The Group’s functional and reporting currency is the United States Dollar (US$).

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATION

2.1 Standards affecting presentation and disclosures
 In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new and revised Standards:

 IFRS 1 (Revised): The amendments provide guidance for entities emerging from severe hyper-inflation that 
are either resuming the presentation of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) compliant financial 
statements or presenting IFRS compliant financial statements for the first time.

 In accordance with the amendments, when an entity’s date of transition to IFRSs is on or after the functional 
currency normalisation date, the entity may elect to measure all assets and liabilities held before the functional 
currency normalisation date at fair value on the date of transition to IFRS and use that fair value as the deemed 
cost of those assets and liabilities in the opening IFRS statement of financial position.

 When the functional currency normalisation date falls within a 12 month comparative period, the comparative 
period may be less than 12 months, provided that a complete set of financial statements is provided for that 
shorter period.

2.2 Standards and interpretations adopted with no effect on the financial statements 
 The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations and interpretations have also been adopted in 

these financial statements.  Their adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these 
financial statements but may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

 IFRS 1 and IFRS 7 The IASB amended IFRS 1 to exempt first-time adopters of IFRSs from 
   providing the additional disclosures introduced by the March 2009 
   amendments to IFRS 7 Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments.  The 
   amendment gives first time adopters the same transitional provisions 
   that the amendments to IFRS 7 provide to current IFRS preparers.

 IFRS 1  (Revised) First time Adoption of IFRS – Amendments relating to oil and gas 
   assets and determining whether an arrangement contains a lease (effective for annual 
   periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010)

 IFRS 2 (Revised) Share based Payment - Ammendments relating to Group cash-settled 
   share based payment (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
   1 January 2010;

 Amendments to IFRS 3  Three amendments to IFRS 3 (2008) were incorporated in improvements to IFRSs
 (2008) as part of AIP 2010:
   • Measurement of non-controlling interests
   • Un-replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards
   • Transitional requirements for contingent consideration from a business 
    combination that occurred before the effective date of IFRS 3 (2008)

 Amendment to IAS 27  Following the issuance of IAS 27 (2008), a number of consequential    amendments  
(2008) as part of AIP were made to other IFRSs. The changes related to IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS 31 and are to 

   be applied prospectively (with the exception of paragraph 35 of IAS 28 and 
   paragraph 46 of IAS 31, which are to be applied retrospectively.

 Amendments to IAS 32 Under the amendment to IAS 32 rights, options and warrants otherwise meeting the 
   definition of equity instruments in IAS  32.11 – issued to acquire a fixed number of 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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   an entity’s own non-derivative equity instruments for a fixed amount in any 
   currency are classified as equity instruments, provided the offer is made pro-rata 
   to all existing owners of the same class of the entity’s own non-derivative 
   equity instruments.

 IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing  The interpretation addresses divergent accounting by entities issuing equity
 Financial Liabilities with  instruments in order to extinguish all or part of a financial liability (often referred
 Equity Instruments to as “debt for equity swaps”).  The interpretation concludes that the issue of 
   equity instruments to extinguish an obligation constitutes consideration paid.

 Improvements to IFRS  Amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 8, IAS 1, IAS 7, IAS 17, IAS 36, IAS 38 and IAS 39
 (2009) resulting from April 2009 Annual improvements to IFRS (Majority effective for 
   annual reports beginning on or after 1 January 2010).

2.3 Standards and interpretation in issue but not yet effective
 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in 

issue but not yet effective:

 IAS 1 IAS 1 was amended as part of improvements to IFRSs issued in May 2010.  The amendment 
  clarifies that an entity may present the analysis of the comprehensive income by item either in 
  the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements (effective 1 January  

 2011)

 IAS 12 • The amendments provide an exception to the general principles of IAS 12 for investment 
   property measured using the fair value model in IAS 40 investment property.
  • For the purposes of measuring deferred tax, the amendments introduced a rebuttable 
   presumption that the carrying amount of such an asset would be recovered entirely 
   through sale.
  • The presumption can be rebutted if the investment property is depreciable and is held within a  

  business model whose objective is to consume substantially all the economic benefits over 
   time rather through sale
  • The exception also applies to investment property acquired in a business combination if 
   the acquirer applies the fair value model in IAS 40 subsequent to the business combination.
  • The amendments also incorporate the requirements of SIC 21 Income Taxes.  Recovery 
   of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets into IAS 12, i.e deferred tax arising on a non-depreciable 
   assets measured using the revaluation model in IAS 16 should be based on the sale 
   rate. (Effective 1 January 2012)

 IAS 19 The amendments require the recognition of changes in the defined benefit obligation 
  and in plan assets when those changes occur, eliminating the corridor approach 
  and accelerating the recognition of past service costs. (Effective 1 January 2013)

 IFRS 1 The amendments provide relief to first-time adopters of IFRS by :
  • Replacing the date of prospective application of the derecognition of financial assets and 
   liabilities of “1 January 2004” with “the date of transition to IFRS” so that first-time adopters 
   of IFRS do not have to apply the derecognition requirements in IAS 39 retrospectively 
   to an earlier date; and
  • Relieving first-time adopters from recalculating “day 1” gains and losses on transactions 
   occurring before the date of transition to IFRS. (Effective 1 January 2011)

 IFRS 1 IFRS 1 was amended as a result of improvements to IFRS 2010.  The amendments relate to 
  accounting policy changes in the year of adoption and additions to the deemed cost exemption.  
  • Accounting policy changes in the year of adoption
  • Deemed cost exemption   - Event-driven fair value measurement.
  • Deemed cost exemption - Entities subject to rate-regulation. (Effective 1 January 2011)

 IFRS 7 IFRS 7 was amended as part of improvements to IFRS 2010 in order to clarify the existing 
  disclosure requirements.

  The effective of the amendment is to encourage qualitative disclosures in the context of the 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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  quantitative disclosure required to help users to form an overall picture of the nature 
  and extent of risks arising from financial instruments.

  This amendment also clarifies the required level of disclosure around credit risk and collateral 
  held and provides relief from disclosure of renegotiated loans. (Effective 1 January 2011)

 IFRS 7 The IASB introduced enhanced disclosure requirements to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments as part 
  of the comprehensive review of off-balance sheet activities.  The amendments are designed to 
  enhance that users of financial statements are able to more readily understand transactions 
  involving the transfer of financial assets (for example, securitisations), including the possible 
  effects of any risks that may remain with the entity that transferred the assets. (Effective 1 
  January 2011)

  The amendments also require additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of 
  transfer transactions are undertaken around the end of a reporting period.

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification and measurement (effective for annual periods beginning 
  on or after 1 January 2013)

 IFRS 10 • The objective of IFRS 10 is to have a single basis for consolidation for all entities regardless of 
   the nature of the investee, and that basis is control.
  • The definition of control includes three elements: power over and investee, exposure of rights  

  to variable returns of the investee and the ability to use power over the investee to affect the  
  investor’s returns.

  • IFRS 10 provides detailed guidance on how to apply the control principle in a number of 
   situations, including agency  relationships and holding of potential voting rights.
  • An investor would reassess whether it controls an investee if there is a change in facts 
   and circumstances.
  • IFRS 10 replace those parts of IAS 27 that address when and how an investor should prepare  

  consolidated financial statements and replaces SIC 12 in its entirety. (Effective 1 January 2013)

 IFRS 11 • IFRS 11 classified joint agreements as either joint operations (combining the existing concepts 
   of jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled operations) or joint ventures (equivalent to 
   the existing concept of a jointly controlled entity).
  - Joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have rights 
   to the assets and obligations for the liabilities
  - Joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
   arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 
  • IFRS 11 requires these of the equity method of accounting for interests in joint ventures 
   thereby eliminating the proportionate consolidation method.
  • The determination of as to whether a joint arrangement is a joint operation or a joint venture is 
   based on the parties’ rights and obligations under the arrangement, with the existence of a   

  separate legal vehicle no longer being the key factor. (Effective 1 January 2013)

 IFRS 12 • IFRS 12 applies to entities that have an interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates 
   or unconsolidated structured entities
  • IFRS 12 establishes disclosure objectives and specifies minimum disclosures that an entity 
   must provide to meet those objectives.
  • An entity should disclose information that helps users of its financial statements evaluate the 
   nature of and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of those 
   interests on its financial statements. (Effective 1 January 2013)

 IFRS 13 • IFRS 13 establishes a framework for measuring fair value where that is required by other 
   standards. The standard applies to both financial and non financial items measured at fair 
   value.
  • Fair value is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or pay to transfer 
   a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.” 
   (i.e. an exit price) (Effective 1 January 2013)
       
 IAS 24  (Revised) Related Party Disclosures  -  Amendment on disclosure requirements for entities 
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   that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by a Government (effective for 
   annual periods beginning on or after January 2011)

 IAS 27  Reissued as IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as amended in 2011).  Consolidation 
   requirements previously forming part of IAS 27 (2008) have been revised and are now 
   contained in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.  (Effective 1 January 2013)

 IAS 28  Investments in Associates – Reissued as IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint ventures as 
   (amended in 2011). This version supersedes IAS 28 (2008) Investments in Associates. 
   (Effective 1 January 2013)

 IAS 34  IAS 34 was amended to provide a clarification around significant events and transactions to 
   be discloses in interim financial reports. The amendment is intended to emphasise that these 
   interim disclosures should update the relevant information presented in the most recent 
   annual financial report. The amendment also clarifies how to apply this principle in respect 
   of financial instruments and their fair values. ( Effective 1 January 2011)
   The amendment also clarifies how to apply this principle in respect of financial instruments and 
   their fair values. (Effective 1 January 2011)

 IFRIC 13  IFRIC 13 was amended in order to provide clarification on the measurement of the fair value of  
  award credits under the interpretation. (Effective 1 January 2011)

 IFRIC 14  Amendment to IFRIC 14: IAS 19 The limit of a Defined Benefit Asset – Minimum Funding 
   Requirements and their interaction (Effective for annual period beginning on or after 
   1 January 2011);

 The Directors are yet to assess the impact that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations will have 
on the financial statements in the period of initial application.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Statement of compliance
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Report-

ing Standards.

3.2  Transition to IFRS

 The Group is resuming presentation of IFRS financial statements after early adoption of Revised IFRS 1 First 
time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards issued on 20 December 2010.  The Group failed to 
present IFRS financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 due to the effects of severe 
hyperinflation as defined in Revised IFRS 1.

 The first amendment replaces reference to a fixed date of ‘1 January 2004’ with the date of transition to IFRS, 
which eliminates the requirement to reconstruct transactions that occurred before the date of transition to 
IFRS.  The second amendment provides guidance for entities emerging from severe hyperinflation to resume 
presenting IFRS financial statements.  An entity can elect to measure assets and liabilities at fair value and to 
use the fair value as the deemed cost in its opening IFRS statement of financial position.  The Group elected to 
use the severe hyperinflation exemption. 

 The effect of the application of the amendment is to render the opening statement of financial position, pre-
pared on 1 September 2009 (date of transition of IFRS) IFRS compliant.  The opening statement of financial 
position was reported in the prior year as not being compliant with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 21 
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates and IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Econo-
mies.

 The Group’s previous functional currency, the Zimbabwean dollar (ZW$), was subjected to severe hyperinfla-
tion, before the date of transition to IFRS because it had both of the following characteristics:

 (a) A reliable general price index was not available to all entities with transactions and balances in the ZW$;  
 and
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 (b) Exchangeability between the ZW$ and a relatively stable currency did not exist.

 The Group changed the functional and presentation currency from the ZW$ to the United States dollar (US$) 
with effect from 1 January 2009.

3.3 Basis of preparation
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain prop-

erties and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as explained in the ac-
counting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in ex-
change for assets.

 The principal accounting policies are set out below. 

3.4 Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Astra Industries Limited (the 

“Company”) and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company 
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activi-
ties.

 Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of 
disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Com-
pany and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

 When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.

 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 Deemed cost exemption
 The Group elected to measure certain items of property, plant and equipment, trade and other receivables, 

inventories and trade and other payables at fair value and to use the fair value as the deemed cost of those 
assets and liabilities in the opening IFRS statement of financial position.  The determination of balances for the 
opening statement of financial position is summarised below:

 Financial assets and liabilities Fair value as agreed by the shareholders i.e. willing buyer willing 
   seller

 Accounts payable Settlement amounts agreed with creditors in United States dollars.
 
 Property, plant and equipment These were valued at gross replacement value and reassessed 
   in line  with subsequent market trends and necessary adjustments  

  were made.
 
 Investment property Fair value as reassessed by the Directors based on a professional 
   valuation.

 Investment in subsidiaries Deemed United States dollar cost.

 Inventories Actual United States dollar cost and current United States dollar 
   values.

 Receivables Settlement amounts agreed with debtors in United States dollars.

 Bank balances All ZW$ bank accounts were written off to zero.  
   Opening balances represent actual United States dollars.

 Shareholder’s equity (NDR) Difference between total assets and total libilites.
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 Comparative financial information
 The financial statements comprise three statements of financial position, two statements of comprehensive 

income, changes in equity and cash flows as a result of the retrospective application of the Amendments to 
IFRS 1.

 
 Reconciliation of previously  prepared to IFRS compliant financial statements
 In preparing the opening IFRS statement of financial position, the Group has not adjusted amounts previously 

determined in accordance with the guidance on change in functional currency issued by the Public Account-
ancy and Auditors Board (“PAAB”), the Zimbabwe Accounting Practises Board (“ZAPB”) and the Zimbabwe 
Stock Exchange (“ZSE”) in July 2009 have not been adjusted. This guidance was adopted as the local standard 
for reporting by most listed entities and other incorporated entities in Zimbabwe reporting subsequent to 
severe hperinflation. As amounts have not changed from those presented in previously issued financial state-
ments, reconciliations have not been presented because the amendments to IFRS 1 effectively endorsed the 
approach adopted in the guidance paper issued by the PAAB, ZAPB and the ZSE, which dealt with conversion 
of local currency balances to stable foreign currency after a period of severe hyperinflation.

3.5 Business combinations
 The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition / purchase method. The cost of the acquisi-

tion is measured at the aggregate of the fair values at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred 
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs 
directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 – Business Combinations are recognised at the 
fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held 
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are 
recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

 Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabili-
ties and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, 
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 The interest of non-controlling shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the non-controlling inter-
ests’ proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

3.6 Goodwill
 Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 

business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

 For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that 
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more fre-
quently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-gener-
ating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed 
in subsequent periods.

 On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the deter-
mination of the profit or loss on disposal.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment
 Property, plant and equipment revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying 

amount does not materially differ from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the 
reporting period. Gains and losses arising from revaluations are transferred to capital reserves. The last such 
professional valuation was at 31 August 2010 for plant, machinery and land and buildings. The methods of valu-
ation were as follows:

  

 Land and buildings: Open market value 
 Plant and equipment: Depreciated replacement value

 Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in other compre-
hensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease 
previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is 
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation 
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. 

 
 Depreciation
 Depreciation on revalued buildings is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of 

a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is 
transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings 
except when an asset is derecognised.

 Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes not 
yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, 
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Deprecia-
tion of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for 
their intended use.

 
 Freehold land is not depreciated. 

 Freehold land and buildings and plant and machinery are stated in the statement of financial position at their 
revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, determined from market based evidence 
by appraisal undertaken by or with the assistance of professional valuers, less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment. Vehicles, furniture and other equipment are stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation.  

 Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and prop-
erties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit 
or loss.

3.8 Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily 

take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

3.9 Investments
 Unlisted equity investments are stated at the lower of cost or directors’ valuation unless there is a reliable basis 

to remeasure to fair value.  Losses arising from the revaluation of investments are taken to the statement of 
comprehensive income.

3.10 Interest in Joint Ventures
 A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic 

activity that is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating 
to the activities of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control).

 Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an 
interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities. 
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 The Group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation, except when 
the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses of jointly controlled entities is combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial 
statements on a line-by-line basis.

 Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising in a business combination.

 When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits and losses resulting from the transac-
tions with the jointly controlled entity are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial statements only to 
the extent of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are not related to the Group. 

3.11     Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
 At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in 
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impair-
ment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

3.12 Inventories
 Inventories comprise merchandise, raw materials, work in progress, finished goods and manufactured compo-

nents. They are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value generally determined on a moving average 
basis. Raw materials, merchandise and components are valued at the landed cost on a first in first out basis. 
Finished goods and work in progress are valued at direct material and labour costs, an appropriate share of 
production expenses and where applicable, excise duty.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the costs necessary to make the sale.

 Obsolete and slow moving inventories are identified and written down with regard to their estimated eco-
nomic or realisable value.   Write downs to net realisable value and inventory losses are expensed in the period 
in which they occur.

3.13 Financial instruments

3.13.1 Financial assets
 Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is 

under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the mar-
ket concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. Financial assets are 
classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), 
‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The clas-
sification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.
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•   Effective interest method
  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 

allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an inte-
gral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an 
effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets designated as at FVTPL.

•  Financial assets at FVTPL
  Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is desig-

nated as at FVTPL. Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recog-
nised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest 
earned on the financial asset. 

•  Held-to-maturity investments
  Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the 

Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. 
Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 
impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

•  Loans and receivables
  Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest 
would be immaterial.

•  Impairment of financial assets
  Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance 

sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of 
the investment have been impacted. For unlisted shares classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged de-
cline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

  For unlisted shares classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. For certain categories of financial 
asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently 
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of 
the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

  The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an al-
lowance account.

3.13.2 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group
 Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the sub-

stance of the contractual arrangement.

 Equity instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 

all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

 Financial liabilities
 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’. Financial 

liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability. Other financial 
liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
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 Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calcu-
lating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected 
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

3.14 Share- based payment arrangements
 The Group issues share options. Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing simi-

lar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the 
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 3.23.4.

 These share options are valued at the date of grant. The fair value determined is expensed on a straight line 
basis over the vesting period based on the Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and the li-
ability is disclosed in a share option reserve which forms part of equity.

 At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments ex-
pected to vest.  The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recorded in profit and loss such 
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share op-
tion reserve.

 Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  The expected life used in the model has been 
adjusted, based on management’s best estimates, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 
and behavioural considerations.  The value transferred to the share option reserve is amortised to retained 
earnings as the related share options are exercised or forfeited.

 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair 
value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case 
they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains 
the goods or the counterparty renders the service.

3.15 Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, it is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount 
of the obligation can be made.  The amount recognised as a provision, is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

3.15.1  Onerous contracts
 Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous 
 contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 

the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. Onerous 
contracts provisions are recorded at the present value of the net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the 
lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.

3.15.2  Restructurings
 A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructur-

ing and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to im-
plement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring 
provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that 
are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

3.16 Retirement benefit cost
 Contributions to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employ-

ees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

3.17 Taxation
 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 Current tax
 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in 

the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
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years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial posi-
tion.

 Deferred tax
 Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 

the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary dif-
ferences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidi-
aries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of 
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable fu-
ture. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the liability is settled or the asset realised based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substan-
tially been enacted by the end of the reporting period.  The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of 
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax for the period
 Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in profit and loss, except when they relate to 

items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), 
in which case the tax is also recognised directly in equity or where they arise from initial accounting for a busi-
ness combination.  In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in the accounting 
for the business combination.

3.18 Revenue recognition
 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for esti-

mated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 Sale of goods
 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with owner-

ship nor effective control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
 
Interest income
Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
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amount on initial recognition.

Rental income
 The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in note 3.22.1 below.

3.19 Investment property
 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment proper-

ties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment 
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

 An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently with-
drawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carry-
ing amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

3.20 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
 Non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carry-

ing amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  This 
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition.  Management must be committed to the sale, which should be 
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

 Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell.

3.21  Foreign transactions and balances
 While the Group’s records are maintained in United States Dollars, some of the transactions are conducted 

in other major foreign currencies.  Foreign assets and liabilities are converted to United States Dollars at the 
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the financial period.  Transactions in foreign currencies are transferred 
to United States Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the time of the transactions.  Transaction and translation 
gains or losses arising on conversion or settlement are dealt with in the statement of comprehensive income in 
the determination of the operating income.

3.22 Leasing
 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
3.22.1 The Group as lessor
 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.  

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.22.2 The Group as lessee
 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed.  Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an ex-
pense in the period in which they are incurred.

 
 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as 

a liability.  The aggregate benefits of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

3.23 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertanity
 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not apparent from other sources.  
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are con-
sidered to be relevant.  Actual outcomes may differ from those estimates.  The estimates and underlying as-
sumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
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periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
 The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying the entity’s 

accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial state-
ments:

3.23.1 Residual values of property, plant and equipment
 During the period, management considered the residual values of property, plant and equipment which are 

included in the statement of financial position at 31 August 2011. The residual values of each asset category 
have been assessed after taking into account age and obsolescence.  The residual values were computed as a 
percentage of their fair value, based on the age of the asset. The residual values of all assets will be reassessed 
each year and adjustments for depreciation will be done in future periods if there is indication for diminution in 
value.

3.23.2 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
 In determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment management considered the local operating 

environment, technology changes, use, type, make and model of each asset category.

3.23.3 Impairment of property, plant and equipment other than land
 Determining whether property, plant and equipment is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of 

the cash generating units to which property, plant and equipment has been allocated.  The value in use com-
putation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash generating unit 
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.  The Directors carried out impairement tests 
on all categories of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 August 2011 and determined that the 
impairement of the Group’s assets was insignificant.

3.23.4 Share based payments
 No share options were granted in the current period. The valuation of the Group’s share options took into 

consideration the adverse economic conditions that existed in the market leading to trade ceasing on the 
Zimbabwe Stock Exchange and a change in functional currency.  The economic fundamentals that existed 
during the Zimbabwe dollar trading period and the more recent United States dollar trading period have im-
pacted significantly on the valuation of options.  In valuing share options issued subsequent to the change in 
functional currency, the Group adopted the provisions of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 2 
which states that all option pricing models should take into account, at a minimum:

(a) the exercise price
(b) the life of the option
(c) the current price of underlying shares
(d) the expected volatility of the share price
(e) dividends expected on the shares and
(f) the risk free interest rate 

- Volatility
 The Group has used volatility for the twelve months ended 31 August 2010 as it  has been assumed that the 

first seven months of the United States trading period were not a fair reflection of the share price volatil-
ity.

- Risk free interest rate
 There is currently no government paper in the market. This makes the measurement and determination of 

the risk free interest rate very subjective.  The risk free rate for the Group has been determined based on the 
borrowing rates that the Group has managed to obtain from the major financial lenders.

-  Expected dividends
 Management has prudently assumed that no dividends will be declared over the life of the options.

3.24   Segmental reporting
 A segment is identified as a reportable segment if a majority of its revenue is earned from sales to external 

customers and if its revenue, profit or assets are 10% or more of those of the Group.  A business segment is a 
distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing goods or services, and is subject to risks 
and returns that are different from those of other business segments.
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4       SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

     Year ended 31 August 2011
  Paints and    Continuing  
  Surface     operations Discontinued
  coatings Chemicals  Corporate  Elimination  total operation Group
   US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
 Revenue   -    
 External sales    10 353 625     12 444 360  - -    22 797 985      974 701     23 772 686 
 Inter-segment sales     5 493     1 968 025  - ( 1 973 518) - - -
 Total revenue    10 359 118     14 412 385  - ( 1 973 518)    22 797 985      974 701     23 772 686 
 Result       
 Operating profit/(loss)    1 165 684      72 264      15 300  (  15 539)    1 237 709  (  680 425)     557 284 
 Net finance income/(costs) (  40 728) 212 - - (  40 516) (  65 535) (  106 051)
 Profit/(loss) before tax    1 124 956      72 476      15 300  (  15 539)    1 197 193  (  745 960)     451 233 
 Income tax credit/(expense) (  250 797) (  13 095) (  7 234)     4 002  (  267 124)     236 349  (  30 775)
 Profit/(loss) for the year     874 159      59 381      8 066  (  11 537)     930 069  (  509 611)     420 458 
       
 Other information       
 Segment assets    8 799 754     6 469 799      90 055  (  717 164)    14 642 444     3 471 961     18 114 405 
 Segment liabilities    2 844 649     2 210 277      31 717  (  63 038)    5 023 605     1 659 381     6 682 986 
 Capital expenditure     339 787      85 064  - -     424 851      2 730      427 581 
 Depreciation expense     282 611      182 278  - -     464 889      169 987      634 876 
 Profit on sale of property,
 plant and equipment 12 065 3 341 - - 15 406 156 025 171 431

 
    Year ended 31 August 2010 (restated)
  Paints and    Continuing  
  Surface     operations Discontinued
  coatings Chemicals  Corporate  Elimination  total operation Group
   US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
 Revenue   -    
 External sales    8 488 924     10 298 444  - -    18 787 368     1 478 347     20 265 715 
 Inter-segment sales     146 323     1 641 571  - ( 1 787 894) -                              -    -
 Total revenue    8 635 247     11 940 015  - ( 1 787 894)    18 787 368     1 478 347     20 265 715 
 Result       
 Operating profit/(loss)    1 157 203      386 012  (  35 350)     9 060     1 516 925  (  519 398)     997 527 
 Net finance income/(costs) (  194 243) (  45 741) - - (  239 984) (  58 405) (  298 389)
 Profit/(loss) before tax     962 960      340 271  (  35 350)     9 060     1 276 941  (  577 803)     699 138 
 Income tax credit/(expense) (  68 587)     2 939  (  4 895) (  2 960) (  73 503)     242 790      169 287 
 Profit/(loss) for the year     894 373      343 210  (  40 245)     6 100     1 203 438  (  335 013)     868 425 
             
 Other information       
 Segment assets 7 332 759 5 521 429 - 2 860 12 857 048 3 683 238 16 540 286
 Segment liabilities 2 232 195 1 952 864 - - 4 185 059 1 593 336 5 778 395
 Capital expenditure 141 525 35 903 - - 177 428 - 177 428
 Depreciation expense 384 205 188 145 - - 572 350 227 887 800 237
 Profit/(loss) on sale of 
 property, plant and 
 equipment 9 210 (1 000) - - 8 210 (9 173) (963)

 For management purposes the Group is currently organised into 3 operating divisions namely Paints and Surface Coatings, 
Chemicals and Corporate. These are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.

 Segment revenue reflects both sales to external parties and intergroup transactions. The segment result is presented as 
segment profit including net finance income.

 
 Segment operating assets and liabilities are only those items that can be specifically identified with a particular 
 segment.
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5 OPERATING PROFIT – Continuing operations
 
 The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at operating profit:
   
    2011 2010
    US$ US$
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment   464 889 572 350
 Equity-settled share based payments expense  11 793 53 903
 Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (15 406) (8 210)
 Impairment on property, plant and equipment  - 77 042
 Employee benefit expense:
 - Wages and salaries  1 853 308 2 128 175
 - Defined contribution plan:  284 227 261 394
    -  Social security costs   85 073  115 491 

   -  Pension costs   199 154  145 903
 - Directors remuneration      -   fees  36 131 42 726
    2 173 666 2 432 295
 Audit fees  81 105 79 607
 Net foreign exchange transaction (losses)/gain  (45 292) 8 127

           
6 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS) – Continuing operations  
 Finance income  
 Interest on bank deposits  34 525 30 012
 Other interest income  48 175 154
    82 700 30 166
 Finance costs  
 Interest on bank overdrafts and loans  (  91 652) (  270 150)
 Other interest expense  (  31 564) 0
    (  123 216) (  270 150)
   

7 INCOME TAX – Continuing operations  
    

 Current tax expense in respect of the current year  467 775 605 192
 Withholding tax  on interest  2 973 -
 Deferred tax relating to the origination and reversal 
 of temporary differences  (  203 624) (  240 212)
 Effect of change in tax rates  - (  291 477)
 Income tax expense  267 124 73 503     
 
 Tax rate reconciliation  
   
 Profit before tax  1 197 193 1 276 941
 Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25.75%  308 277 328 812
 Rate adjustment                                                                                                             -   (291 477)
 Income at different tax rates  (855)  -
 Income not subject to tax  (49 101) (3 415)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  8 803 39 583
  Income tax expense  267 124 73 503
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8 Discontinued operation 

8.1  Shutdown of Astra Steel and Engineering Supplies Division
 On 26 January 2011, the Board of Directors of Astra Industries Limited, resolved to shutdown the operations of 

Astra Steel & Engineering Supplies Division.  The Division had continually reported trading losses for a period 
exceeding two years.  Prior to that the Division was never a significant contributor to the Group’s profitability.

8.2  Analysis of loss for the year from discontinued operations
    2011 2010
    US$ US$
 Loss for the year from discontinued operation   
 Revenue  974 701 1 478 347
 Cost of sales  (850 960) (1 114 825)
 Gross profit  123 741 363 522
 Other operating income  242 895 24 157
 Operating expenses  (1 047 061) (907 077)
 Operating loss  (680 425) (519 398)
 Net finance costs  (65 535) (58 405)
 Loss before tax   (745 960) (577 803)
 Attributable income tax credit  236 349 242 790
 Loss for the year from discontinued operation 
 (attributable to owners of the Company)  (509 611) (335 013)
    
8.3 Cash flows from discontinued operation   
 Net cash outflow from operating activities  (244 361) (317 748)
 Net cash inflows from investing activities   185 563 2 698
 Net cash inflow from financing activities   63 735 314 172
 Net cash inflows / (outflows)  4 937 (878)

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE – Continuing and discontinued operations  
    2011 2010
 Basic earnings per share  US$ US$
   
 Profit attributable to equity holders (US$)                                                            391 577 863 535
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  139 509 969 138 223 719
 Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  0.28 0.62
   
 Diluted earnings per share  
   
 Profit attributable to equity holders adjusted for the effect of dilution   391 577 863 535
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  139 509 969 138 223 719
 Adjustment for the effect of dilution arising from share options  2 570 000 3 837 500
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted 
 for the effect of dilution  142 079 969 142 061 219
 Diluted earnings per share  (cents per share)  0.28 0.61

 EARNINGS PER SHARE – Continuing operations  
    2011 2010
 Basic earnings per share  US$ US$ 

 
 Profit attributable to equity holders (US$)                                                            901 188 1 198 548
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  139 509 969 138 223 719
 Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  0.65 0.87
   
 Diluted earnings per share  
   
 Profit attributable to equity holders adjusted for the effect of dilution   901 188 1 198 548
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  139 509 969 138 223 719
 Adjustment for the effect of dilution arising from share options  2 570 000 3 837 500
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted 
 for the effect of dilution  142 079 969 142 061 219
 Diluted earnings per share  (cents per share)  0.63 0.84

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
   Land & Plant & Vehicles &
   buildings equipment furniture  Total
   US$ US$ US$ US$
 At 31 August 2010    
 Opening net book amount 4 440 560 2 882 443 775 270 8 098 273
 Additions 1 300 46 346 129 782 177 428
 Revaluations 2 642 617 43 341 - 2 685 958
 Impairment loss - (  77 042) - (  77 042)
 Disposals - (  18 357) (  11 832) (  30 189)
 Depreciation charge  (  91 186) (  380 035) (  329 016) (  800 237)
    
 Net book amount 6 993 291 2 496 696 564 204 10 054 191
    
 At 31 August 2010    
 Cost  4 533 341 3 311 388 1 140 577 8 985 306
 Valuation 2 642 617 43 341 - 2 685 958
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss (  182 667) (  858 033) (  576 373) ( 1 617 073)
    
 Net book amount 6 993 291 2 496 696 564 204 10 054 191

 At 31 August 2011    
 Opening net book amount 6 993 291 2 496 696 564 204 10 054 191
 Additions 1 392 92 476 333 713 427 581
 Revaluations 297 010 - - 297 010
 Disposals - - (  48 616) (  48 616)
 Depreciation charge  (  162 897) (  280 870) (  191 109) (  634 876)
 Classified as held for sale (note 18) - (  130 739) (  10 324) (  141 063)
 Transferred  to investment property ( 3 020 000) - - ( 3 020 000)
    
 Net book amount 4 108 796 2 177 563 647 868 6 934 227
    
 At 31 August 2011    
 Cost  2 844 810 3 223 549 1 147 745 7 216 104
 Valuation 1 609 550 30 106 - 1 639 656
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss (  345 564) ( 1 076 092) (  499 877) ( 1 921 533)
    
 Net book amount 4 108 796 2 177 563 647 868 6 934 227

       
 The depreciation expense is based on the following useful lives:

 Buildings 40 years
 Plant and equipment 10 years
 Motor vehicles 5 years
 Furniture 10 years
 Office equipment 5 years
 Computers  3 years
 
 Transfer to investment property 
 At the end of 31 August 2011, land and buildings that were occupied by the discontinued steel business, were re-

valued and transferred to investment property.  The transfer of US$ 3 020 000 comprised a deemed cost portion 
of US$1 689 923, while the balance of US$ 1 330 077 constitutes the revaluations surpluses arising from the years 
ended 31 August 2011 and 2010.  The deemed cost and revaluation surplus portions were accordingly eliminated 
from the summary of the remaining land and buildings.

 Revaluation of land, buildings, plant and equipment
 The Group’s land, buildings, plant and equipment were revalued on 31 August 2010, by independent valuers.  

The land and buildings transferred to investment property were revalued at year end before the transfer. The 
valuation was made on the basis disclosed in note 3.7. The carrying values of the assets were adjusted to the 
revaluations and the resultant surplus net of deferred income taxes and non-controlling interest was credited 
to revaluation reserves in shareholders’ equity.  No revaluations were done for the rest of property, plant and 
equipment at year end.
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
   2011 2010
   US $ US $
 Completed investment properties at fair value 3 020 000 -
    
   
   2011 2010
   US $ US$
 Balance at beginning of year - -
 Transferred from property, plant and equipment 3 020 000 -
 Balance at end of year  3 020 000 -
   
 Following the closure of Astra Steel business as highlighted in note 8, the Group decided to lease out the land 

and buildings in Harare and Bulawayo.  For the year ended 31 August 2011, these investment properties were fair 
valued at US$ 3 020 000 and were transferred from property, plant and equipment.  The value of US$ 3 020 000 
was split US$ 2 600 000 for Harare property and US$ 420 000 for Bulawayo property.

 The fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31 December 2011 has been arrived at on the basis of a 
valuation carried out at that date by EPG Global, independent valuers not related to the Group. EPG Global is a 
member of the Institute of Valuers of Zimbabwe, and they have appropriate qualifications and recent experience 
in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to International Valuation 
Standards, was arrived at by reference to comparable market evidence comprising complete transactions as well 
as transactions where offers had been made but the transaction had not been finalised. The following assump-
tions were used:

   Harare Bulawayo
   Property Property
 Return on potential rental income 13% 12%
 Value per square metre US$ 173 Us$ 149

12 JOINT VENTURES

 The Group has a 51% share in the ownership of NCP Distillers Zimbabwe (Private) Limited. There has been no 
change in the Group’s ownership or voting rights in this joint venture for several years. The following amounts 
are included in the Group’s financial statements as a result of the proportionate consolidation of NCP Distillers 
Zimbabwe (Private) Limited;

 As at 31 August 2011 2011 2010
   US$ US$
 Non-current assets 652 273 673 514
 Current assets 657 236 577 829
 Non-current liabilities 160 476 170 409
 Current liabilities 364 445 314 652
   
 For the year ended 31 August 2011  
   
 Income 1 808 034 1 511 069
 Expenses 1 789 718 1 442 166

13 OTHER INVESTMENTS   
 

 Valuation of Investments
 In the opinion of the Directors, equity investments in subsidiary companies have a value of at least the amount 

at which they are stated. The Group has a 1.99% ownership interest and voting power in Medical Investments t/a 
Avenues Clinic. This investment has not been valued, since the value is not material.
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 Details of Investments 
    Proportion of
    ownership and
 Investments held by the Group  voting power held

 Medical Investments t/a Avenues Clinic  1.99%
 Investments held by the Company:  
 Subsidiaries – Unquoted 
    Principal Activity
 Wholly owned and having a 31 August year end: 
 Ascorp Trading Company Limited  Dormant
 Astra Chemical (Private) Limited  Chemicals
 Astra Engineering Limited  Dormant
 Astra Finance Limited  Dormant
 Astra Guard Limited  Dormant
 Astra Holdings Limited  Paints and Steel
 Astra Limited  Dormant
 Astra Paints Limited  Dormant
 Astra Shipping Services (Private) Limited  Dormant
 Astra Trading Limited  Dormant
 Canley Properties Limited  Dormant
 The proportional ownership interest and voting rights have not 
 changed from prior year.

14 INVENTORIES   
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Raw materials and components 2 141 893 1 287 270 1 065 405
 Finished goods 2 175 510 1 746 455 1 075 365
 Work in progress 66 496 122 191 216 443
 Consumable stores 29 635 2 915
   4 383 928 3 156 551 2 360 128

15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Trade receivables 3 218 508 2 579 112 1 283 859
 Allowance for doubtful debts (  283 531) (  28 286) (  3 057)
 Net trade receivables 2 934 977 2 550 826 1 280 802
 Prepayments and other receivables 484 906 480 584 537 253
   3 419 883 3 031 410 1 818 055

 Trade receivables disclosed above are classified as loans and receivables and are therefore measured at amor-
tised cost. 

 The average credit period on sales of goods is 30 days. Allowances for doubtful debts are recognised against 
trade receivables between 60 days and 90 days based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by refer-
ence to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial posi-
tion. 

 Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential 
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are 
reviewed regularly. 70% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scor-
ing attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group.

 
 Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) which are past due at the end 

of the reporting period but against which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables 
because there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include interest accrued 
after the receivable is over 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any 

13 OTHER INVESTMENTS (CTD)
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collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right of offset against any 
amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty.

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. The concentra-
tion of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

 
     
   2011 2010  2009
   US$  US$ US$
 30-60 days 476 053 453 010 -
 61-90 days 323 531 327 315 3 057
 Above 90 days 221 054 - -
   1 020 638 780 325 3 057 

  
 Average (days) 51 46 N/A
   
 Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts   
 Balance at beginning of the year 28 286 3 057 -
 Current year increase in provision 255 245 25 229 3 057
 Balance at end of the year 283 531 28 286 3 057
   

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Bank balances and cash on hand 215 304     298 134      216 587 

 Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for vary-
ing periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group 
and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.  

17 NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE   
     
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Plant and equipment 130 739 - -
 Vehicles and furniture 10 324 - -
   141 063 - -
 
 The assets above comprise some of the property, plant and equipment of the discontinued Astra Steel Division, 

valued at net book value which was lower than the fair value less costs to sell.  The Group decided to liquidate 
these assets at year end to help settle the liabilities of the Division. Computers and office equipment were fully 
depreciated.

 
18 ISSUED  SHARE CAPITAL   
18.1 SHARE CAPITAL   
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Authorised   
 155 000 000    
 Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each 1 550 000 1 550 000 - 

 Issued and fully paid   
   Number of shares Share capital Share Premium
 Balance at 1 September 2008  136 226 636 - -
 Issue of shares under employee share option plan 92 500 - -
 Balance at 31 August 2009 136 319 136 - -
 Issue of shares under employee share option plan 2 860 000 28 600 57 200
 Re-denomination of share capital - 1 363 191 6  177 045
 Balance at 31 August 2010 139 179 136 1 391 791 6 234 245
 Issue of shares under employee share option plan 550 000 5 500 20 855
 Balance at 31 August 2011 1 39 729 136 1 397 291 6 255 100

15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CTD)
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 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of US$0.01, carry one vote per share and carry a right to divi-
dends. The share capital was re-denominated into United States dollars following a special resolution at an ex-
traordinary general shareholders’ meeting on 30 September 2010.

18.2 UNISSUED SHARES
 In terms of the authority granted at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 4 February 2000, 12 415 882 of the 

unissued shares indefinitely remain under the control of the Directors to allot or dispose of on such terms and 
conditions as they, in their discretion, think fit.

18.3 SHARES UNDER OPTIONS
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Share options reserve 61 855 77 886 109 725

 The Directors are empowered to grant share options to certain employees of the Group. These options are grant-
ed for a period of ten years at a price determined by the market price ruling on the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange 
on the dealing day prior to the granting of the options. Each employee share option converts into one ordinary 
share of Astra Industries Limited on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the 
option. The number of shares subject to option is approved by shareholders in general meeting, and the number 
of options granted is calculated in accordance with the criteria approved by the Remuneration Committee.  

 At an Extra Ordinary General Meeting of 21 September 2006, a new share option scheme was approved. In terms 
of this scheme, Directors may allot up to 13 463 914 shares to senior employees of the Group. Share options are 
exercisable at the price prevailing on grant date.  Share options granted under the employee share option plan 
carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. The following share-based payment arrangements were in exist-
ence during the current and prior reporting periods: 

   Subscription
               Prices                    Number of shares
 Date of grant      2011 2010 2009
 24  January 2007 -    225 000 797 500 3 687 500
 27 October 2009 US$ 0.03   2 345 000 3 040 000 -
      2 570 000 3 837 500 3 687 500

 Options for Allotment   
 Opening balance available for allotment    6 381 414 9 391 414 9 331 414
 Lapsed     717 500 50 000 60 000
 Allotted      - ( 3 060 000) -
 Closing balance available for allotment    7 098 914 6 381 414 9 391 414
   
 Options to be exercised     
 Balance at the beginning of the year    3 837 500 3 687 500 3 840 000
 Allotted      - 3 060 000 -
 Lapsed    (717 500) (  50 000) (  60 000)
 Exercised    (550 000) ( 2 860 000) (  92 500)
 Balance at end of the year    2 570 000 3 837 500 3 687 500   

 Share option prices                                                                                                                                                                                                     
  

    Options exercised   Granted
   2011 2010 2009 2011 2010  2009
 ZWD50.00 (before devaluation) 330 000 2 860 000 92 500 - -  -
 US$0.03 220 000 - - - 3 060 000  -
 Total  550 000 2 860 000 92 500 - 3 060 000  -

18.1 SHARE CAPITAL (CTD)
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18.4  DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

 The beneficial interests of the Directors and their nominees at 31 August 2011 in the share capital of the Group were:
                        
      Holding Company
              Ordinary Shares                    Options
   2011 2010  2009  2011 2010 2009
 E J Davies 628 000 628 000  178 000 320 000 320 000 450 000
 T M Johnson - -  162 359 - - -
 M Mazimbe 366 366   366 670 000 670 000 570 000
 H M Nhende 1 077 983 850 683  280 683 220 000 440 000 555 000
 V W Zireva 320 800 320 800  120 800 - - -
   2 027 149 1 799 849  742 208 1 210 000 1 430 000 1 575 000

 Other than the above, no Director, or his nominee had any beneficial interests in the share capital of the Company.

19 PROPERTIES REVALUATION RESERVE   
    
        2011 2010 2009
        US$ US$ US$
 Balance at beginning of the year     2 097 043                      -                         -   
 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment    297 010    2 685 958  - 
 Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation     (  69 633) (  588 085) -
 Portion relating to non-controlling interests     - (   830) -
      
 Balance at the end of the year     2 324 420    2 097 043     -

 The revaluation reserves are not available for distribution to the shareholders of the Group until the property, plant 
and equipment is sold and the reserves realised.

20 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
     
        2011 2010 2009
        US$ US$ US$
 At beginning of the year      53 062 47 342 58 230
 Share of attributable earnings/(loss)     28 881 4 890 (10 888)
 Share of other comprehensive income     - 830 -
 At end of the year      81 943 53 062 47 342
   
21 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
  
 Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal rate of 

25.75% (2010: 25.75%)

 The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
        2011 2010
        US$ US $
 Balance at beginning of the year     2 315 272    1 438 313
 Prior year adjustment:   
 - Reassessment of deferred tax on revaluation of 
   property, plant and equipment     - 1 052 447
 - Deferred tax effect of provision on onerous contract   - (  67 980)
   
 Balance at beginning of the year (2010 restated)    2 315 272    2 422 780 
 Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of 
 temporary differences      (252 891) (  294 901)
 Effect of change in tax rates      - (400 692)
 Other comprehensive income - revaluation of property plant and 
 equipment         69 633 588 085  
 
 Balance at end of the year      2 132 014  2 315 272 
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     Charged
    Charged/  to other 
   August (credited)  comprehensive August
   2010 to income  income  2011 

      US$ US$ US$ US$
 Deferred income tax liabilities    
 Accelerated tax depreciation (262 129) (149 395) - (411 524)
 Asset revaluations 2 641 707                           -    69 633 2 711 340
 Other temporary differences 8 405                  (8,405) - -
   2 387 983 (157 800) 69 633 2 299 816
 Deferred income tax assets    
 Other deductible temporary differences (72 711) (95 091) - (  167 802)
     
 Net deferred income tax liability 2 315 272 (252 891) 69 633 2 132 014

22 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 
    2011 2010  2009
    US$ US$ US$
 Unsecured – at amortised cost   
 Bank overdrafts  - FBC bank at  2% per month  (i)  - 183 550 -
 Barclays Bank at 10% per annum  350 000 - -
 Bankers’ Acceptances  - FBC Bank 
 at 18% per annum (2010:25%, 2009: 43%)  (i)  500 000 150 000 173 201
 Short-term loan – Stanbic Bank at 24%  - - 100 635
 Total bank borrowings  850 000 333 550 273 836
 Interest free loan from outside shareholder  11 712 31 194 16 173
 Loan from private individual at 17% per annum (ii)  - 60 000 -
    861 712 424 744 290 009
 Secured – at amortised cost   
 BancABC – secured by unlimited guarantees from Astra Holdings 
 Limited and Astra Chemicals Private Limited at 14% per annum  377 907 - -
 Short-term loan – Tetrad Investment Bank at 18% per annum (iii) - 314 173 -
    377 907 314 173 -
    
 Total short-term borrowings  1 239 619 738 917 290 009
    
 Summary of borrowings arrangements
(i) On 12 May 2009, the Group signed a US$ 500 000 short-term facility with First Banking Corporation (FBC) which 

expired on 30 April 2010.  The bankers’ acceptance of US$ 173 201 was against this facility.  On 15 March 2010, 
the Group signed a further US$ 1 000 000 short-term loan facility with FBC, which expires on 28 February 2011.  
Subsequently the Group signed the bankers’ acceptance of US$ 150 000 with a tenure of 61 days and maturing on 
11 October 2010.  This facility was renewed on 5 June 2011 for US$ 1 500 000, expiring on 30 April 2012. A bankers’ 
acceptance of US$ 500 000 matures on 28 November 2011.

(ii) Loan received from a private pensioner, repayable on death of the pensioner.

(iii) The Tetrad loan arose as a result of a short-term loan facility signed on 4 June 2010, expiring on 1 December 2010, 
on a 180 day drawdown basis.  The loan was secured by a negative pledge on inventories and trade receivables 
worth US$ 1 000 000.     

 Borrowing powers
 In terms of the Memorandum and Articles of Association the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Group 

to borrow money and to secure the repayments thereof provided that the aggregate amount owing by the 
Group and its subsidiaries at any one time including contingent liabilities for the debts of other companies but 
excluding intergroup borrowings shall not, without the previous sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Group, 
exceed the shareholders’ equity net of revaluation surpluses, as set out in the audited consolidated statement 
of financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries.  The unutilised borrowing capacity of the Group is USD$ 
8.0 million.

21 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CTD)
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23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES           
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Trade payables    1 928 917  1 361 106 942 464
 Other payables      568 848  493 096 412 915
    2 497 765  1 854 202 1 355 379
 
 The average credit period on purchases is 30 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to 

ensure that payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms. 

23.1 PROVISIONS          
   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Provisions are made of the following:   
 Employee benefits provisions   
 - Leave pay  211 083 195 193 172 094
 - Bonus pay  138 307 171 734 125 320
 - Retrenchment costs (i) 177 550 - -
 Onerous contract – RBZ (ii) 220 000 220 000 220 000
 Technical and audit fees  44 099 91 564 64 718
   791 039 678 491 582 132
 
(i) Retrenchment costs provision is for outstanding payments for retrenchment packages negotiated with employ-

ees of Astra Steel Division which has been discontinued.  Refer to note 8.
(ii) The Group has a present obligation to deliver scotch carts to the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe (RBZ) under  a con-

tract entered into during the Zimbabwe dollar trading period. The costs of completing the contract approximates 
US$ 200 000 whereas there are no economic benefits expected as the Zimbabwe dollar denominated payment 
was already received in prior years (pre-dollarisation).

24 ADJUSTMENT FOR NON-CASH ITEMS  
   2011 2010
   US$ US$
 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 634 876 800 237
 Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment - 77 042
 (Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (171 431) 963
 Employee share option expense 11 793 53 961
   475 238 932 203
  

25 INCREASE IN WORKING CAPITAL 2011 2010
   US$ US$
   
 Increase in inventories (1 227 377) (796 423)
 Increase in trade and other receivables (388 473) (1 213 355)
 Increase in trade and other payables 643 563 498 823
 Increase in provisions 112 548 96 359
   (859 739) (1 414 596) 

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
  
 Treasury Risk Management
 The Group Management Committee, consisting of senior executives of the Group, meets on a regular basis to 

analyse, amongst other matters, currency and interest rate exposures and re-evaluate treasury management 
strategies against revised economic forecasts. Compliance with Group policies and exposure limits is reviewed at 
quarterly board meetings.
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 Foreign Exchange Risk Management
 Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations and foreign loans is limited by group treasury policy and is monitored by 

the Group Management Committee.  Significant exposure to foreign loans is limited to operations that generate 
sufficient foreign currency receipts that effectively act as a hedge.  Operating subsidiaries manage short-term 
currency exposures relating to trade imports and exports within approved parameters. At 31 August 2011 foreign 
obligations were US$738 177.

    
 Interest Risk Management   
 Group policy is to adopt a non-speculative approach to managing interest rate risk.  Approved funding instru-

ments include bankers’ acceptances, call loans, overdrafts, foreign loans and where appropriate, long term 
loans.  Approved investment instruments include fixed and call deposits.

    
 Liquidity Risk Management   
 With residual cash reserves and unused bank facilities, net of all borrowings; the Group is able to meet all short 

term commitments.
 
 Credit Risk Management   
 Potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of short- term cash and cash equivalent investments and 

trade receivables.  The Group’s cash resources are invested with the most reputable financial institutions.  Trade 
receivables comprise a large, widespread customer base, no single amount of which is greater than 8% of the 
total, and Group companies perform on-going credit evaluations of the financial conditions of their customers.  
Accordingly the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, which has not been adequately provided 
for.

   2011 2010 2009
   US$ US$ US$
 Maximum permissible year end borrowings 9 025 056 8 611 786 7 694 290
 Actual borrowings comprising:   
        Current borrowings  (note 22) (1 239 619) (738 917) (290 009)
        Bank and cash balances (note 16) 215 304 298 134 216 587
 Unutilised borrowing capacity 8 000 741 8 171 003 7 620 868

 Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
 The estimated net fair values of all financial instruments approximate the carrying amounts shown in the financial 

statements.

27 PENSION FUNDS  
   
 Astra Industries Pension Fund
 The Group and its employees contribute to the Astra Industries Pension Fund which is a define contribution plan. 

Contributions amount to 10% by the Group and by employees 6% of pensionable emoluments.

 National Social Security Authority Scheme (NSSA)
 This is a defined benefit scheme promulgated under the National Social Security Act of 1989.  The Group’s obliga-

tions under the scheme are limited to specific contributions legislated from time to time.  These are presently 3% 
of pensionable emoluments up to a maximum of US$200 per month per each employee.

   2011 2010
   US$ US$
 Charge made to the Group’s statement of 
 comprehensive  income for the year were   
 Astra Industries Pension Fund     207 771      156 773 
 NSSA      104 924     123 435 
      312 695      280 208 

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CTD)
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28 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Group had no known contingent liabilities as at 31 August 2011.

29 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
    2011 2010
    US$ US$
 Property, plant and equipment 
 –authorised but not contracted  1 538 554 996 241

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, 

have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the 
Group and other related parties are disclosed below. 

30.1 TRADING TRANSACTIONS
 During the year, Group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are not 

members of the Group:
    2011 2010
 OPERATING EXPENSES:  US$ US$
 
 Rentals
 Paid by Celmid (Private) Limited (trading as Chemical Enterprises) to 
 Younus Sacranie  Private Limited, a minority shareholder in Chemical 
 Enterprises, who is the owner of the business premises.  33 355 37 645
 
 BALANCES:  2011  2010
    US$ US$
 Trade and other payables
 Owed by  Astra Chemicals:
 49% portion of amount owing to NCP Distillers Zimbabwe (Private) Limited  241 824 242 720

 The balance is interest free, unsecured and related to Hippo Valley Estates’ 
 share as the outside joint venturer in NCP Distillers Zimbabwe (Private) Limited. 
 Trade and other receivables  
 Owed to Astra Chemical by Lobels Bread (Pvt) Ltd, a company under common 
 directorship with Astra Industries Limited   128 916 107 998
    
 Short-term borrowings
 Owed by Celmid (Private) Limited (trading as Chemical Enterprises):  11 712 31 194
 Unsecured interest free loan from minority shareholder
 
30.2 COMPENSATION FOR KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL  
 The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the 
 year was as follows:  
     2011 2010
     US$ US$
   
 Short-term benefits   1 730 863 1 217 833
 Post employment benefits   104 865 102 078
     1 835 728 1 319 911

 The remuneration of Directors and key management is determined by the Remuneration Committee having re-
gard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

31 GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION
 The Directors have assessed the ability of the Group to continue operating as a going concern and believe that 

the preparation of these financial statements on a going concern basis is still appropriate. 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2011

    Year ended Year ended
   Notes 31 August 31 August
    2011 2010
    US$ US$
Equity-settled share based payment expense 5 (  11 793) (  53 903)

Operating loss for the year  (  11 793) (  53 903)
   
Loss for the year  (  11 793) (  53 903)
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   Audited  Audited Audited
   2011 2010 2009
  Notes US$ US$ US$
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Investments  in subsidiaries A 7 649 961 7 649 961 7 649 961
    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents B 9 900 - -
    
Total assets  7 659 861 7 649 961 7 649 961
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Capital and reserves    
Share capital 18 1 397 291 1 391 791 -
Share premium 18 6 255 100 6 234 245 -
Share option reserve 18 61 855 77 886 109 725
Functional currency change reserve  - - 7 540 236
Accumulated loss  (  54 385) (  53 961) -
    
Total equity  7 659 861 7 649 961 7 649 961
 
   
A.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES    
    
Shares at cost less provisions:    
-  Investment in Astra Holdings Limited  5 040 074 5 040 074 5 040 074
-  Investment in Astra Chemical (Private) Limited  2 609 887 2 609 887 2 609 887
    
   7 649 961 7 649 961 7 649 961

The nature of the shareholding in subsidiaries is shown in the group structure included elsewhere in this report.

B.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    
    
Amount receivable for proceeds on share options issued to employees:     
    Audited  Audited Audited
    2011 2010 2009
    US$ US$ US$
Collected by Astra Holdings on behalf of the Company    9 900 -  -

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2011

     Functional
     currency  Share
   Share  Share  change option  Accumulated  Total
   capital premium  reserve reserve loss  equity 

Balance as at 31 August 2009  - - 7 540 236 109 725 - 7 649 961
Share options exercised 28 600 57 200 - (  85 800) - -
Re-denomination of share capital 1 363 191 6 177 045 (7 540 236) - - -
Recognition of share based payments - - - 53 961 (53 961) -
      
Balance as at 31 August 2010(restated) 1 391 791 6 234 245 - 77 886 (53 961) 7 649 961
Share options exercised 5 500 20 855 - (16 455) - 9 900
Lapsing of share options issued - - - (11 369) 11 369 `
Recognition of share based payments - - - 11 793 (11 793) -
Balance at 31 August 2011 1 397 291 6 255 100 - 61 855 (54 385) 7 659 861

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2011
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2011

  Year ended Year ended
  31 August 31 August
  2011 2010
  US$ US$
Cash flows from operating activities  
Operating loss for the year (11 793) (53 903)
Adjustment for non-cash item: 
- equity settled share based payment expense 11 793     53 903 
     
Cash flows from operating activities -                              -   
   
Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds from issue of new shares  9 900                            -   
     
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 9 900                            -   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9 900                            -   

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Class of Shareholder

   Number of  Number of Shares  Percentage
   Shareholders 000s 
Pension Funds 3 332 0.24%
Individuals  446     5 162 3.69%
Nominees  51   15 690 11.23%
Insurance Companies 7     2 982   2.13%
Employees  5 6 397 4.58%
Corporations 121 109 166 78.13%
   633 139 729 100.00%

Share Range

1 – 5 000  438       576    0.41%
5 001 – 10 000   63       477     0.34%
10 001 – 50 000 80 1 796     1.29%
50 001 – 100 000 19    1 373     0.98%
100 001 – 500 000   21 4 914    3.52%
500 001 – 1 000 000 3    2 275      1.63%
1 000 001 – 10 000 000     7 24 480   17.52%
> 10 000 000     2 103 838   74.31%
   633 139 729 100.00%

10 Largest Shareholders

Finance Trust of Zimbabwe (Private) Limited  88 527 63.36%
Cyrus Holding Corporation    15 311 10.96%
Equivest Nominees (Private) Limited  7 424 5.31%
Astra Workers Trust (Private)  Limited      6 332   4.53%
Mast Nominees (Private) Limited  5 395 3.86%
Setma (Private) Limited  2 977 2.13%
Old Mutual  2 079 1.49%
Bard Nominees (Private) Limited   1 320 0.94%
Bexley Trust  1 190 0.85%
Nhende, Herritage Mudiwa  1 078  0.77%
    131 633 94.2%

Directors’ shareholdings are set out in note 18.4 to these Consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES NOTES
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